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from the president

Graeme Gilbert 
President 
Netball SA

As we reflect on 2020, it is hard not to think of the 
unpredictable impact of COVID-19. Like so many 
businesses across the world, the pandemic has touched 
every corner of Netball SA and our wider community. 
Although the challenge it presented cannot be 
understated, there is still plenty to celebrate from 2020. 
A significant amount of work, from within Netball SA and 
across the South Australian community, has gone into 
laying a strong foundation for our wonderful sport and 
its future.

A NEW REALITY
When the pandemic first hit our community back in 
March 2020, it was certainly tough to watch the array of 
competitions and programs put on hold across South 
Australia. As the pressure on our community continued 
to build, the Netball SA Board made the decision to 
implement a 50% reduction in fees for the winter season 
in an effort to help ease some of the financial stress our 
members, clubs and associations were experiencing. 
We know how tough it was and saw how hard our 
community worked to keep our game alive as much as 
possible and we thank our members for their support 
and patience as we navigated these unprecedented 
times.

STRENGTHENING OUR PATHWAY
Once again, 2020 demonstrated the success of South 
Australia’s pathways from grassroots to the elite. I was 
so proud to see 19 SA athletes named across the three 
Netball Centre of Excellence squads. Another shining 
light for 2020 was the success of South Australian 
umpire Georgina Sulley-Beales. In her first year as a 
contracted umpire, she became the first SA umpire to 
officiate a Suncorp Super Netball (SSN) Grand Final and 
I was so pleased to watch her in action at the match. 
Her outstanding performance was acknowledged 
with the 2020 SSN Umpire of the Year Award. 12-year-
old Lucas Gulin became the youngest umpire to be 
awarded a National B Badge within South Australia. My 
congratulations also extend to Leanne Eichler who was 
awarded her elite coaching accreditation this year.

FINANCIAL POSITION
The Board acknowledged in 2019 that we needed to 
make some changes to our operations, in order to 
preserve our future financial stability. 

These changes were in the process of being 
implemented when COVID-19 struck, and the global 
pandemic has certainly presented us with a whole new 
set of significant challenges.

State-wide lockdowns, sports being forced into 
hibernation, the closure of our Stadium, venue density 
and capacity restrictions and reduced participation 
across the State were just a few of the never-ending 
issues that we have faced since the outbreak of 
COVID-19.

As a result, the Association recorded an operating loss 
for the year of $311,809.

Ironically, the audited financial statements show that we 
have made a profit for the year of $4,102,643. 

This has occurred as a result of recognising capital grant 
revenue of just over $4.4M for the year. 

The capital grants are from the State Government and 
can only be used for upgrades to the Netball SA Stadium 
at Mile End.

There has been a significant spend on stadium 
improvements this year, which included the new 
changerooms, the re-development and new lighting for 
the car park, and several upgrades to ensure the building 
meets new code requirements. 

When we spend these grants, we are required to show 
these funds as Capital Grant income in our Profit and 
Loss account, but the expenses do not go to the Profit 
and Loss, and instead sit in our Balance Sheet as 
Leasehold Improvements as an asset. 

With the support of both the State and Federal 
Governments, we have managed to trade our way 
through the COVID-19 crisis for now, and we look forward 
to continuing to strengthen our financial position into 
the future.

OUR SUPPORT NETWORK
The ability to not only survive but to thrive amidst a 
global pandemic is only possible when you have strong 
support behind you and this year highlighted to me 
more than ever how strong our community is. I would 
like to thank the Netball SA Board for the passion and 
dedication you all showed in 2020. We welcomed Chris 
Wood to the Board in February, taking over from Steve 

Graeme Gilbert 
President  
Netball SA

we know how tough it was and 
saw how hard our community 
worked to keep our game alive

Nolis and I would like to thank Steve for his significant 
contribution during his time serving on the Board.

Once again, our volunteers proved why they are the 
backbone of netball in South Australia and I cannot 
thank them enough to taking their commitment 
to another level this year. A special thank you to 
members of the Audit and Risk Committee, Foundation 
Division Committees and Priceline Pharmacy Country 
Championships Organising Committee and our Council 
Delegates, especially in the most challenging of years.

To the Netball SA staff and CEO Bronwyn Klei, thank you 
for all the hard work you have put in to keeping our sport 
strong this year. I know it has not been easy, but the hard 
times have proven just how passionate this organisation 
is about the future of netball.

And finally, to our netball family across the state, thank 
you for standing by us through one of the toughest years 
our sport has ever experienced. We know you all felt 
the impact of COVID-19, making your commitment to 
netball even more extraordinary and we cannot thank 
you enough. I look forward to seeing our game flourish 
further in 2021. 
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Bronwyn Klei 
Chief Executive Officer 
Netball SA

from the ceo

There is no doubt the pandemic 
presented our game with one 
of its toughest challenges… 
ever.

A YEAR LIKE NO OTHER
It has been a year like no other.

As 2020 began, our hearts and minds were focused 
on the devastating bushfires that hit several South 
Australian communities over the summer. I was so proud 
to see our South Australian netball community rally 
together for our Bushfire Relief Fundraiser.

As significant as the bushfires were, I’m sure 2020 will 
forever be remembered as the year the world was rocked 
by the outbreak of COVID-19. At first, the game we love 
was put on hold and it was hard to see the light at the 
end of the tunnel. 

Our days became filled with COVID Management 
Plans and applying for government exemptions as we 
exhausted every effort to get back on court. There is no 
doubt the pandemic presented our game with one of its 
toughest challenges… ever.

Inside Netball SA, it meant making a series of tough 
decisions including standing down staff, restructuring, 
and cost cutting to ensure we operated as prudently as 
possible.

As for our community, I was in awe of our associations 
and clubs for their ability to overcome the challenges 
in front of them. Although many were unable to host a 
traditional winter season, several embraced alternatives, 
from condensed seasons to carnival events. 

Through it all, one thing was clear: the passion and 
commitment of our netball family is what keeps us 
strong. I cannot thank our incredible community enough 
for the dedication shown this year.

COMMUNITY NETBALL
Despite COVID-19’s best efforts, we were fortunate to see 
several of our major competitions go ahead, including 
the Premier League, the Academy Games and the 
SAASTA Aboriginal Netball Academy. 

I was also very proud to sign the national Declaration of 
Commitment on behalf of Netball SA, acknowledging 
the role we play in increasing the participation rate of 
Indigenous athletes in our sport.

As we look ahead to 2021, we eagerly await to the return 
of competitions that were unfortunately not able to 
proceed in 2020.

Among them, the National Netball Championships and 
the One Netball Marie Little Shield – presenting the 
chance for SA’s state teams to defend their 2019 titles.

SUNCORP SUPER NETBALL
After an extended delay to the season, I was so pleased 
to see our Adelaide Thunderbirds out on court in 2020.

Of course, our athletes entered the Queensland Hub 
to participate in a season like no other, as mid-week 
matches were introduced and we saw the two-point 
super shot change the game. 

We were ecstatic to host the only three games to be 
played outside of Queensland. It meant the world to us 
to reward our loyal members with the chance to watch 
our Thunderbirds live in action.

A special thank you to the teams, on and off the court, 
for their resilience and ability to remain agile through 
this rapidly changing season. 

And finally, a huge thank you to our incredible 
members. In the face of so much uncertainty, we 
were overwhelmed by your pledges of support and 
unwavering passion across social media. No matter 
where we were, we heard your cheers. 

THE OTHER SIDE
Off the court, we were pleased to see the completion 
of the car park upgrade, and new spectator and player 
facilities, at our Mile End headquarters. We cannot wait 
to progress into the next phase of our plan to create a 
world-class home of netball in South Australia… a home 
which will be run to benefit netballers across the state. 

In the commercial space, I give my sincere thanks to 
the partners who have supported us through such an 
unprecedented year. For those who were new to us, 

this year may not have been what we anticipated, but 
you demonstrated that your commitment to netball 
transcends the courts.

Once again, this year has shone a light on the invaluable 
role our volunteers play. I would like to thank each 
and every one of you for not only helping us through a 
challenging year, but for being innovative and adaptable 
in the face of adversity.

I would like to also thank our Board for their hard-work 
and dedication, our many Netball SA members for 
their commitment, the Netball SA staff who have gone 
above and beyond to keep our sport strong, and Netball 
Australia for its support and guidance.

In addition, I would like to thank the Office or Recreation, 
Sport and Racing and, again, our commercial partners 
for sticking with us.

I look forward to continuing to work together with all of 
you, in what I hope will be a more “normal” year in 2021. 
Here’s to getting back on court and our netball family 
returning stronger than ever.

Bronwyn Klei 
Chief Executive Officer 
Netball SA
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President

Graeme Gilbert 
Feb 2001 – 2008 (Director) 

Feb 2009 – Present (President)

director

Megan Carter 
Aug 2016 — present 

director

Glenn Docherty 
Feb 2012 — present 

director

Leeanne Grantham 
Jun 2017 — present 

director

Steve Nolis 
Feb 2016 — Feb 2020 

director

Steve Olech 
Feb 2016 — present 

director

Caroline Phillips 
Feb 2018 — present 

director

Michelle Pole 
Feb 2018 — present 

director

Chris Wood 
Feb 2020 — Present 

board of directors Volunteers
Netball SA extends its sincere thanks to the volunteers 
across all facets of netball. This invaluable support is the 
lifeblood of our sport and community. From grassroots 
to the Adelaide Thunderbirds and the Netball SA Board, 
the extent of netball’s reach in South Australia would 
simply not be possible without this generous donation of 
time and expertise. 

In any year, our volunteers’ contribution to our sport 
cannot be overstated. However, Netball SA would like 
to acknowledge the especially enormous contribution 
of our volunteers in 2020. In a year like no other, 
uncertainty and a rapidly changing environment 
characterised much of the year. We thank our volunteers 
for their relentless commitment to the sport during this 
challenging time.   

director

Julianne Cirson 
Feb 2019 — present 

Welcome chris
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athletes in the  
Academy Program

students participated 
in thunder cup

players participated 
in premier league

affiliated  
associations/
divisions

coaching  
accreditations  

awarded

2020 snapshot strategic pillars

South Australian Aboriginal Sports Training Academy 
(SAASTA) students graduated from the Aboriginal 
Netball Academy 19 students graduated from the SEDA college Netball SA 

sports development program9

39

327

181

310

240
Children participated 
in NetSetGO

2,663

Adelaide Thunderbirds School 
Holiday Clinics participants

895

253

affiliated clubs 
within those 
associations/divisions

Cumulative TV audience for 
Adelaide thunderbirds games

members and supporters attended across 
three adelaide thunderbirds home games

497,000

customer
centric

financial 
stability

strengthen 
the game

adelaide
thunderbirds

national 
 success

making netball 
a place where 
people thrive 

and grow

stadiumgovernment 
investment

strong 
voice

$17,000
over

raised in bushfire 
relief fundraiser 

match

8%

24

#1

increase in sporting 
schools participants

athletes selected in 17/u 
and 19/u state teams

sa rubies won gold at 
the 2019 one netball 
marie little oam shield

south australian wins 
2020 suncorp super netball

12-year-old 
became the 

youngest umpire 
to be awarded 

a national b 
badge in south 

australia

umpire of the year

Umpires received 
a national badge

48

1

1

1
bench official was  
awarded a national Bench 
Official Accreditation

South Australian umpire 
appointed to the suncorp 
super netball grand final

coach received their 
elite accreditation

19

15

9

8

2South australians 
selected in netball 
Australia Centre of 
excellence squads

South australians 
named in the world 
youth cup squad - the 
highest of any state

south australian athletes 
contracted as adelaide 
thunderbirds players or 
were training partners

south australian 
athletes 
contracted to a 
suncorp super 
netball team as 
players or training 
partners

south australians 
named in 2020 
australian 
diamonds squad

adelaide thunderbirds 
members1,003

3,636

Netball sa 
members

17,960
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life members

1941	 Lorna Ryan*

1945	 Gwen Patterson (Benzie)*

1946	 Greta Crane*

1946	 Clara Rankin*

1946	 Anne Stanton*

1946	 Alice Spilsbury*

1952	 Mary White*

1952	 Mavis Nunn*

1954	 Selena Pomeroy*

1954	 Jeanette Hargrave*

1954	 Merle Oldham (Potter)*

1954	 Joy Sheridan (Dundon)*

1956	 Fay Dumont*

1958	 Marcia Gray (Hepworth)*

1958	 Lois Quarrell*

1959	 Mavis Buckingham (Scott)*

1959	 Millie Cakebread*

1959	 Alice Rice*

1959	 Dawn White

1961	 Muriel Wallace*

1961	 Glenda West*

1961	 Gertrude Law*

1964	 Margaret Cahill*

1968	 Pauline Harrison*

1968	 Iris Rodgers*

1968	 Avis Boyce*

1969	 Sylvia McCubbin*

1973	 Daphne Todd*

1975	 Elizabeth Slarks*

1975	 Shirley Cox

1975	 Joan Horner*

1976	 Chris Burton

1977	 Jocelyn Bayly

1980	 Robin Smith

1982	 Nadia Marmach*

1983	 Betty Fisher

1984	 Patricia Courtney

1984	 Jan Summers

1987	 Lorne Sutherland*

1987	 Jeanette Fryar

1987	 Yvonne Battersby

1989	 Valerie Wright

1990	 Margaret Angove

1990	 Bronwyn Roberts

1992	 Marlene Pressley

1993	 Yolanda Cannizzaro

1993	 Barbara Martin

1995	 Raechel May*

1995	 Marlene Lang

1999	 John Belton*

1999	 Nathalie McRae*

2000	 Wendy Gambling

2002	 Ron Blake*

2004 	 Pam Brown

2006	 Jackie Blyth

2006	 Jan Sutherland

2012	 Lee-Anne Cummins

2013	 Allan Wright

2019	 Dawn Reid

2020	 Ros Collins

Netball SA’s Life Membership is awarded for outstanding 
voluntary service on a state level in the areas of playing, 
coaching, umpiring and/or administration.  

We are grateful to all the Life Members who have 
dedicated themselves to the service of our sport.

In 2020, Netball SA was honoured to welcome Ros 
Collins (pictured right) as our newest Life Member. Ros 
has been involved in a number of different roles across 
netball, including over 30 years of service to the City 
Night Division, which she has passionately supported 
since 1987. We thank Ros for her outstanding service to 
netball in South Australia. 

*Note: deceased

strengthen 
the game
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Membership suncorp NetsetGO Associations and divisions

Netball SA remains steadfastly committed to the 
members that lie at the heart of South Australia’s netball 
community. 

In a year like no other, the COVID-19 global pandemic 
presented rapid and significant challenges to South 
Australia’s entire netball landscape, including forcing 
delays or cancellations to all or part of regular winter 
seasons. 

Unfortunately, not all associations were able to proceed 
with their winter competitions, and this significantly 
impacted 2020’s member numbers, recording a 
16,739-decrease year on year. However, Netball SA is 
working hard to help ensure netball’s return to court in 
2021 and its pre-COVID-19 membership numbers. 

Despite the challenges of 2020, the Stakeholder 
Relations team endeavoured to provide every possible 
support for Netball SA members playing on in 2020 
including:  

•	 Support to clubs and associations in navigating 
through the restrictions in place due to COVID-19. 
Eleven associations made it on court for a ‘normal’ 
winter season.

•	 Three webinars conducted on:

	− Good Governance and Effective Meetings

	− Positive Club Culture

	− MyNetball FAQs

•	 Introduction of entirely online Council Meetings 
and town hall webinars as required in response to 
COVID-19. 

•	 To further enhance communication with clubs 
and associations, ‘The Game Plan’ was introduced 
in January 2020 as a fortnightly electronic 
communication for key contacts. 

•	 42 court audits were conducted state-wide 
providing facility development support for clubs and 
associations applying for funding.

•	 Netball SA provided support to associations and 
members affected by the bushfires. Due to the loss of 
sports facilities on Kangaroo Island, Netball SA staff 
visited the island along with SANFL, Tennis SA and 
SACA, meeting with locals to establish how sporting 
bodies could support the rebuild. 

*This includes those who participated in a regular season or modified season. It does 
not include those that ran ad-hoc carnivals or junior development days

Suncorp NetSetGO is a national product providing 
children between the ages of 5-10 years an introductory 
opportunity to progressively develop netball skills. It 
is divided into three tiers: Net, Set and GO, and where 
participants start depends on their age and netball 
experience. 

Despite COVID-19 disrupting NetSetGO in 2020, South 
Australia had 91 centres proceed with their programs, 
with 2,650 participants registering to a Net, Set or GO 
program. 

Unfortunately, due to COVID-19 the Adelaide Thunderbird 
NetSetGO Ambassadors were unable to visit any centres 
in 2020, but look forward to recommencing this in 
coming years.

NetSetGO tier Participants Programs

Net (5-7 years) 776 57

Set (7-8 years) 306 26

GO (9-10 years) 1,568 72

2,650 160

91115

netsetgo
participants

approved netsetgo 
centres

centres proceeded 
in 2020

netsetgo 
programs

17,960

311

42netball sa 
members*

online 
webinars

associations proceeded 
with a winter season

state-wide 
court audits

Note:  the above shows all affiliated associations and divisions, including those who proceeded with a winter season or 
participated in a modified competition.

Disbanded associations: Barmera District Junior Netball Association (BDJNA), Renmark Paringa Junior Netball 
Association (RPJNA), Waikerie and District Junior Netball Association (WDJNA) and Loxton Junior Netball Association 
(LJNA).

*Denotes new in 2020

Adelaide Plains 
President: Stacey Baldry *

Adelaide Metro Netball Division 
President: Peter Mazzachi

Barossa, Light & Gawler 
President: Katrina Frederick

Broken Hill 
President: Parree Cadd

City Night 
President: Barbara Martin 

Eastern Eyre 
President: Mignon Dunn

Elizabeth 
President: Lois Scaife

Far West 
President: Tracey Chandler *

Gawler & Districts 
President: Kylie Forby

Great Flinders 
President: Amii Warner 

Great Southern 
President: Sherryl Rothwell

Hills 
President: Melanie Madsen

Kadina & Districts 
President: Cherry Wright 

Kangaroo Island 
President: Alana Hinton

Kowree Naracoorte Tatiara 
President: Georgia Cadzow

Mallee 
President: Hannah Loller

Mid Hills 
President: Leanne Challans

Mid South East 
President: Sara Gray

Mid West 
President: Kate Baker *

Mount Gambier 
President: Yvette Holmes

Murray Bridge 
President: Dot Temby

Naracoorte 
President: Kristy Jones

North Eastern 
President: Sharyn Roberts *

Northern Areas 
President: Jo Seppelt *

Port Augusta 
President: Beaudine Dalla Santa

Port Lincoln 
President: Huia Groen *

Port Pirie 
President: Sally Johns *

River Murray 
President: Tania Adler *

Riverland 
President: Jess Miller *

Riverland Independent 
President: Elouise Stalenberg

Roxby Downs 
President: Verity Hollobone *

SA Districts 
President: John Adams

SA Mens & Mixed Netball 
President: Steven McInnes

Southern Hills 
President: Ellen Ling

Southern United 
President: Helen Meynell

Southern Yorke Peninsula 
President: Tricia Harris

Western Border 
President: Jo Gibbs *

Whyalla 
President: Rachelle Frigo *

Yorke Peninsula 
President: Sue Brown

affiliated  
associations/divisions39

327 affiliated clubs within those 
associations/divisions
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School programs

In 2020, Netball SA implemented changes to the 
Participation Programs that were offered to South 
Australian schools. 

Netball SA continues to provide opportunities for 
primary and secondary school students throughout the 
state to engage in netball, primarily through the Sporting 
Schools Program and Thunder Cup Competition.  

Sporting Schools
The Sporting Schools program is an Australian 
Government initiative designed to help schools to 
increase children's participation in sport, and to connect 
them with community sporting opportunities. In 2020, 
5,795 school students participated in a Sporting Schools 
netball program across 34 primary schools and six high 
schools.  

Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, Netball SA was not able 
to deliver in schools during Term 2. However, bounced 
back strongly in Term 3 with school uptake increasing by 
80% compared to 2019. 

Total 2020 student participation increased by 437, 
representing an 8% year on year increase. 

Thunder Cup
Thunder Cup is a participation-based competition for 
schools. The weekly competition delivered in Terms 2 
and 3 enables children from Years 3-7 to play netball and 
develop their skills. 

Due to COVID-19, the Term 2 competition was regrettably 
cancelled. However, Term 3 saw 310 students again 
participating across the three age groups.

Specialist Schools Program 
For 2020, endorsed 2019 Specialist Schools were invited 
to reapply for a one-year period. New schools were not 
offered endorsements in 2020. 

Nine schools were re-endorsed for 2020:

•	 Blackwood High School
•	 Cardijin College
•	 Gleeson College
•	 Henley High School
•	 Pedare Christian College
•	 St Mary’s College
•	 St Peter’s Woodlands Grammar School
•	 Trinity College
•	 Mount Gambier High School

Adelaide 
Thunderbirds 
School Holiday 
Clinics 

The popular Adelaide 
Thunderbirds School Holiday 
Clinics continued to generate 
high demand, with 895 
participants aged 5–13 years 
attending one of three clinics 
held in 2020. Unfortunately, due 
to the onset of COVID-19, the 
April clinic was cancelled. 

Adelaide Thunderbirds athletes 
attended during January and 
October clinics, providing a 
great opportunity for young 
South Australian netballers to 
meet and learn from their idols. 

Each clinic is designed to 
provide participants with a 
unique experience, encouraging 
future participation. In 2020, 
a key focus at the clinics was 
to provide an increased game 
sense approach to netball.

895 clinic 
participants

10 clinics held over 
school breaks

5,795

310

8%sporting schools 
participants

thundercup 
participants

increase
on 2019
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The Priceline Pharmacy Country Championships is 
proudly South Australia’s largest netball event. 

Held annually over the June long weekend, the event 
sees over 1,000 participants from 26 associations across 
the state converge at Priceline Stadium.  

As the competition brings together the best of the state’s 
regional talent, it is a momentous occasion on the 
netball calendar. 

Due to the onset of COVID-19, in what would have been 
its 80th year, the 2020 competition was cancelled. 

Despite the cancellation, Netball SA acknowledges all 
the hard work that goes into preparations for each year, 
particularly through the Priceline Pharmacy Country 
Championships Organising Committee. 

In 2020, Jan Summers, who has been an integral part 
of the committee since first taking up the role in 1970, 
retired from her position. Netball SA is incredibly grateful 
for Jan’s unwavering commitment to the sport and 
competition. 

Priceline Pharmacy Country Championships 
Organising Committee:

•	 Mary Hewett (Convenor)
•	 Yolanda Cannizzaro
•	 Naomi Davey
•	 Sharon Guley
•	 Marlene Lang
•	 Barbara Martin
•	 Jan Summers

Priceline Pharmacy  
Country championships Academy program

Netball SA established the academy program throughout 
South Australia for talent identified players, coaches and 
umpires to help them reach their potential.

The program aims to decentralise the delivery of 
developmental and high-performance programs to 
South Australian member associations, and to develop 
links between the regions, Netball SA and the South 
Australian Sports Institute. 

Nine academies throughout the state participate in the 
program, which is conducted from February to October. 

Due to COVID-19, the camp component of the program 
was cancelled, and the program’s start was delayed. 
However, following its return to training, extra sessions 
were added to ensure the hours of contact were 
maintained.

To keep athletes and staff engaged during delays, Netball 
SA introduced the 2020 Academy Challenge.  Players 
across all academies were assigned to mixed teams 
to take part in a virtual run from Gawler to Sydney, 
completing assigned tasks along the way. Working as a 
team, participants were required to do skill work, keep a 
budget for accommodation, food, tourist attractions and 
research towns visited.

Zoom sessions were introduced to cover the theory 
component of the Umpire Program and one face-to-
face visit per academy was conducted after COVID-19 
restrictions were eased. 

Mentor Coaches were also able to visit the Eyre and 
Northern Metropolitan Academy to conduct mentoring 
sessions with coaches. 

Netball SA Academies :

•	 Adelaide Academy
•	 Eyre Academy
•	 Central Ranges Academy
•	 Murray Academy
•	 Northern Metropolitan Academy
•	 Northern Regional Academy
•	 South East Academy
•	 Southern Academy
•	 Spencer Academy

Academy games
As a culmination event for the Netball SA Academy 
Program, the 2020 Academy Games was held at 
Priceline Stadium from 29 September – 1 October.

The competition provides program participants, 
including the players, coaches and umpires across all 
academies, with a valuable opportunity to showcase 
skills developed through the Netball SA Academy 
Program. 

In 2020, the games continued the format, first 
introduced in 2019, of one skills day, followed by two 
competition days. 

Northern Metropolitan Academy took out Division 1 of 
the competition and Adelaide Academy White came out 
on top for Division 2.

181

5

9

26

30Players

Academies

coaches

umpires

umpires received  
a national badge

Academy Games Winners
Division 1: Northern Metropolitan Academy 
Division 2: Adelaide Academy White

2020 Academy Challenge 
Winning Team: Road Runners
Best Logo: Quarantine Queens
Best Final Video: Lightning
Most Valuable Team Leader: Chrysta James
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SAASTA Aboriginal  
netball academy

sa rubies

The South Australian Aboriginal Secondary Training 
Academy’s (SAASTA) Aboriginal Netball Academy (ANA) 
provides Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander high 
school students with a unique program with educational 
outcomes and netball development.

The netball component of the academy saw students 
undertake their Foundation Coaching Accreditation, 
Beginners Umpire Workshop, skills development and 
match play opportunities against Henley High School 
and St Mary’s College. 

In addition to their netball development, SAASTA 
students also completed subjects that go towards their 
SACE.  Over two years, students can study either Stage 2 
Sports Science or Aboriginal Studies. They can also study 
a Certificate III VET option such as Sport and Recreation, 
Community Services or Fitness and Hospitality.

In 2020, the ANA was delivered every Thursday 
throughout the school year at Lights View Recreation 
Centre and St Clair Recreation Centre. Due to COVID-19, 
the Academy did not deliver any practical components 
from April-June, with educational learning continuing in 
an online format. 

The South Australian Rubies compete in the One Netball 
Marie Little Shield - named in honour of disability netball 
pioneer, Marie Little OAM.

The annual tournament provides women with an 
intellectual disability the chance to compete at a 
national level. 

The 2019 three-day competition was held on 12–14 
October 2019 at the Queensland State Netball Centre in 
Brisbane. 

Following a spectacular performance, the South 
Australian Rubies took home the gold, remaining 
undefeated in all six rounds and triumphing over Victoria 
in the Grand Final. 

While Netball SA was ready to defend its title in the 
2020 tournament unfortunately, due to COVID-19, the 
competition was cancelled.  Therefore, no trials for a 
2020 squad took place. 

The success of the athletes in the program thus far, 
is a wonderful testament to the commitment to 
inclusion demonstrated by all involved in the Adelaide 
Metropolitan Netball Division, C6 competition.

19 Students graduated from the 
aboriginal netball academy

SA Rubies Won Gold at 
2019 One Netball Marie 
Little OAM Shield

SA Rubies remain 
undefeated in all 
six rounds

SAASTA Graduating Students
•	 Kyla Abdullah
•	 Stella Ahkit Burgoyne
•	 Courtney Bouzikos
•	 Lesha Colson
•	 Olivia  Davis
•	 Clarisha Graham
•	 Shanea  Haseldine
•	 Chloe Henderson
•	 Shakaya Holland
•	 Deja-Lee O’loughlin
•	 Kianna Pepall
•	 Kaitlyn Peters
•	 Emarli  Raymond
•	 Sandi Rivers
•	 Liana Walker
•	 Tegan Willams
•	 Alyssa Wilson
•	 Kamaya Wyatt
•	 Tashani Wyatt

2020 Graduation Award Winners 

2020 Netballer of the Year: Tashani Wyatt

2020 Student of the Year: Liana Walker

2020 Coaches Award: Kyla Abdullah

Head Coach: Danielle Johnson

Assistant Coach: Christine Glenn

2019 Team
•	 Amanda Berry

•	 Jess Biggs

•	 Jasmine Delphin

•	 Storm Duncan

•	 Kim Flannigan (vice captain) 

•	 Ashlee Hartnett (vice captain)

•	 Isabella Ivancic-Holland (captain)

•	 Steph Koutroumbis

•	 Megan Sadler

•	 Samantha Walker

 
Coaching and Support Staff
Head Coach: Tricia Crockford
Assistant Coach: Paul Beinke
Team Manager:  Samantha Luck
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The Netball SA Premier League is the pinnacle netball 
competition in South Australia. It is made up of the 
state’s most promising emerging and existing talent. 

The highly competitive league provides a strong 
environment to develop athletes, coaches and officials 
and acts as a feeder program for national competitions. 

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the pre-season cup was 
cancelled, and the regular season start was delayed by 
approximately 7-8 weeks.

Following the easing of restrictions, the season bounced 
back with the 14-round fixture, accommodated within a 
condensed format, including a three-game fortnight held 
on Friday and Mondays. 

netball sa premier league
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wd

240

1

1

8

2

16

Players

clubs

umpires received 
national badges

Teams

bench officials received 
an Accreditation

coach received an elite 
accreditation

Kelsey Williams (Tango)Premier Division MVP: 
Jess Paradiso (Tango)

Reserves Divisions MVP: 
Lauren Frew (Matrics)

Club Excellence Award: 
Contax Netball Club

Umpire of the Year: 
Kelly Jordan

Coach of the Year: 
Lee-Anne Cummins (Garville)

Rookie of the Year: 
Casey Bernhardt (Matrics)

Contax Indigenous Dress
Artist: Rickelle Peris

Garville Indigenous Dress
Artist: Gabriel Stengle

Oakdale Indigenous Dress
Artists: Shane Cook and  

Vanessa Dempsey

Team of the yearPremier league award winners

Georgia Beaton (Contax) 

Chelsea Blackman (Contax) 

Sophie Croft (Matrics) 

Jessica Paradiso (Tango)

Goaler Reserve: Charlee Hodges (Contax) 
Centre Court Reserve: Tyler Orr (Matrics)
Defence Reserve: Sarah Raper (Tango) 

Georgia Dent (Matrics) 

Imogen Abernethy (Contax)

To launch the season, Rounds 1-4 were free for the 
public to attend. Contact tracing was introduced through 
online ticketing, supported by strict restrictions around 
social distancing, including no standing spectators and 
checkerboard seating. 

As a wonderful addition to 2020, Spacequake Sports 
live streamed every Court One game, with each club 
allocated two games during the minor rounds.

The league was proud to celebrate Indigenous Round 
across both Round 7 and Round 8. To commemorate the 
occasion, Oakdale, Garville and Contax wore indigenous 
dresses, with 2020 being the first for Contax.  

At the end of 14 rounds, Contax finished Minor Premiers 
in the Premier League Division and Matrics were Minor 
Premiers in the Reserves. 

The Reserves Grand Final saw Matrics take on Oakdale 
Netball Club, while long-time rivals Matrics and Contax 
went head-to-head in the Premier League Division Grand 
Final. 

Matrics Netball Club went on to take out both divisions, 
going back-to-back on their 2019 victories. premier league  

division winners
Matrics Netball Club

premier league reserves 
division winners
Matrics Netball Club
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Like most areas of netball, coaching was impacted by 
COVID-19, particularly through face-to-face development 
opportunities. This included those normally conducted 
through regional visits - a key focus of previous years 
to help support movement through the accreditation 
pathway in these areas. 

However, despite the challenges, Netball SA is proud to 
have continued to support opportunities for potential 
or existing coaches to develop their skills through the 
pathway. 

In a significant achievement for coaching in South 
Australia, an Elite Coach Accreditation was awarded to 
Contax Netball SA Premier League Head Coach, Leanne 
Eichler, during the 2020 competition.  

To further support online development during COVID-19 
restrictions, Netball SA conducted four coaching 
education webinars. This included sessions presented 
by distinguished High Performance Coach, Michelle den 
Dekker. Additionally, a Performance Analysis session was 
presented by the Adelaide Thunderbirds’ Head Coach, 
Tania Obst, and Performance Analyst, Jade Traynor.

Sessions conducted:

•	 Basic Attacking

•	 Basic Defence Movement

•	 Basic Shooting

•	 Performance Analysis

Following the easing of restrictions, development 
and intermediate courses were offered face-to-face at 
Priceline Stadium. 

2020 Coaching Accreditations

coaching Officiating

Accreditation Level Number of 
Accreditations

Foundation Coach Course  
(online) 192

Development Coach Course  
(online) 36

Development Coach Course  
(face-to-face) 17

Intermediate Coach Course 7

Advanced Coach Course 0

Elite Coach course 1

The 2020 financial year started strong, with 12-year-old 
Lucas Gulin awarded his National B Badge, becoming 
the youngest South Australian to be awarded the 
accreditation. 

With the outbreak of COVID-19, umpire development 
focused on online activities. This included Netball 
SA hosting three Umpire Education Zoom sessions 
presented by National AA Badge Umpire, Di Cocker:

•	 Badge Competencies

•	 Contact v Contest

•	 Rule Clarification

Following the commencement of the SSN, 
predominately held in Queensland, Georgina Sulley-
Beales became the first South Australian umpire 
contracted to the league. In an impressive testament to 
her performance, Georgina was appointed to all rounds 
of the finals series, including the Grand Final, and was 
honoured with the 2020 Umpire of the Year Award.

Netball SA bench officials received a unique 
development opportunity when Helen Robinson (State, 
National, International Bench Manager), conducted face-
to-face training during her time in South Australia for 
SSN matches.

Umpiring courses
Foundation Umpires Course (online) 
81 participants

Beginner Umpires Workshop  
3 workshops involving 90 participants

Coloured Shirt Program 
46 centres registered, 20 centres proceeded   
involving 112 participants

Rules of Netball Theory Exam	 		   
144 online exam participants

Development Workshops 
2 workshops involving 17 participants

Umpire Badging Statistics

A Badge 1

B Badge 3

C Badge 44

2020 Officiating Achievements
•	 12-year-old Lucas Gulin (pictured above) became the 

youngest umpire to be awarded a National B Badge 
within South Australia.

•	 Georgina Sulley-Beales became the first South 
Australian umpire contracted to the SSN

•	 Georgina Sulley-Beales was appointed to the SSN 
Grand Final match

•	 Following an incredible 2020 season, Georgina Sulley-
Beales was honoured with the 2020 Umpire of the 
Year Award

•	 Rebecca Fergusson, selected for the 2019/20 Netball 
Australia Emerging Talent Umpire Program, was 
appointed as the Reserve Umpire for all three SSN 
matches conducted at Priceline Stadium

•	 Sarah Kociolek was awarded her National A Badge in 
umpiring

112

20

coloured shirt 
program participants

coloured shirt 
program centres

118 neutral umpires were appointed 
to AMND grand finals

8 participants completed the online 
Bench Official Education Course

1 bench official was assessed and awarded a 
National Bench Official Accreditation 
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adelaide 
thunderbirds

The impact of the COVID-19 global pandemic gave rise to 
a 2020 SSN season like none the league had seen before. 
Restrictions imposed by State and Federal Governments 
across the country forced a delayed and condensed 
season. The fixture ensured 14 rounds, where all teams 
played each other twice across an eight-week minor 
round period. 

Considering state border closures and quarantine 
regulations across the country, a playing hub was 
established in Queensland, with all SSN teams relocating 
for the season. However, the Adelaide Thunderbirds 
were the only team outside Queensland to host three 
games in its home state during the season.  

The 2020 season saw several new rules introduced. This 
included the increased squad of 12, rolling substitutions 
and the two-point super shot, which could be gained in 
the last five minutes of each quarter. However, the bonus 
point was removed from the season.

Like 2019, the club finished seventh on the ladder, 
however showed significant on-court improvement, 
winning two more games and nine more quarters 
compared to the previous year. The club also 
gained wins over the Melbourne Vixens, GIANTS and 
Collingwood Magpies for the first time in SSN history, as 
well as defeating both Grand Final teams in the minor 
round.

To conclude the season, for the second time in club 
history, the Adelaide Thunderbirds crowned two 
Priceline Pharmacy Club Champions, with Shamera 
Sterling and Maisie Nankivell sharing the honours for 
2020. Chelsea Pitman took out both the Members’ Player 
Award and the Players’ Player Award, while Shadine van 
der Merwe was awarded the Spirit Award.

Adelaide Thunderbirds Highlights
•	 The Adelaide Thunderbirds united with the 

Southern Force for Netball SA’s Bushfire Relief 
Fundraiser

•	 Shamera Sterling and Chelsea Pitman were 
selected in the All-Stars team, playing the 
Australian Diamonds in a Netball Australia Bushfire 
Relief Fundraiser.

•	 Hannah Petty, who came up through the Netball 
SA pathway, was appointed as a co-captain 
alongside Chelsea Pitman. Layla Guscoth rounded 
out the 2020 leadership team.

•	 Four new players were capped with the club: 
Samantha Gooden (#97), Lenize Potgieter (#98), 
Tayla Williams (#99), and Georgie Horjus (#100).

•	 Maisie Nankivell’s outstanding progress in 2020 
was rewarded with the league’s 2020 Rebel Rising 
Star Award. 

•	 Shamera Sterling was named Reserve Defender in 
the Suncorp Super Netball 2020 Team of the Year.

•	 Sasha Glasgow and Lenize Potgieter both achieved 
personal milestones, surpassing 500 national 
goals. 

•	 Shamera Sterling was named Goal Keeper in the 
SSN Nissan Net Points Team of the Year, featuring 
in the team for the second consecutive year.

•	 Sasha Glasgow and Maisie Nankivell and were 
both named in the Diamonds Emerging Talent 
Squad. 

•	 Georgie Horjus, Tayla Williams and Chelsea 
Blackman were selected in the National World 
Youth Cup Squad. 

adelaide thunderbirds
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Shadine  
van der merwe

shamera 
sterling

maisie 
nankivell

hannah petty 
(co-captain)

Kate 
Shimmin

Layla 
guscoth

Lenize 
potgieter

tayla 
williams

georgie 
horjus

Charlee 
hodges

2020 training partners

2020 adelaide thunderbirds team

Samantha 
Gooden

Chelsea pitman 
(co-captain)

Sasha 
glasgow

Adelaide Thunderbirds 2020 Season Staff
Senior Operations and Commercial Manager –  
Adelaide Thunderbirds: Teneille Kleinitz

Adelaide Thunderbirds and Southern Force 
Operations Manager: Deborah Kassing

High Performance Manager: Pitre Bourdon

Head Coach: Tania Obst

Specialist Coaches: Jacqui Illman and Natalie von 
Bertouch

Guest Specialist Coach: Jenny Borlase

Strength and Conditioning Coach: Jay Collison 

Strength and Conditioning Coach (pre-season):  
Kristie Sheridan

Lead Physiotherapist: Kath Chigwidden

Physiotherapist: Lauren Bendo

Dietitian: Olivia Warnes

Team Doctor: Dr. Duncan Walker

Performance Analyst: Jade Traynor

Leadership Consultant: James Begley

Mindset Coach: David Steventon

Adelaide Thunderbirds 2020 award winners

South Australian athletes contracted to 2020 
suncorp super netball teams
•	 Nyah Allen 

Collingwood Magpies (Training Partner)

•	 Sienna Allen 
Sunshine Coast Lightning (Training Partner)

•	 Kelly Altmann 
Collingwood Magpies (Replacement Player)

•	 Chelsea Blackman 
Adelaide Thunderbirds (Training Partner)

•	 Sasha Glasgow 
Adelaide Thunderbirds

•	 Charlee Hodges 
Adelaide Thunderbirds (Training Partner)

•	 Georgie Horjus 
Adelaide Thunderbirds (Training Partner)

•	 Sarah Klau 
NSW Swifts

•	 Maisie Nankivell 
Adelaide Thunderbirds

•	 Tyler Orr 
Collingwood Magpies (Replacement player)

•	 Hannah Petty 
Adelaide Thunderbirds

•	 Maddy Proud 
NSW Swifts

•	 Kate Shimmin 
Adelaide Thunderbirds

•	 Maddy Turner 
NSW Swifts

•	 Tayla Williams 
Adelaide Thunderbirds (Training Partner)

2020 Priceline Pharmacy Club Champions 
Shamera Sterling and Maisie Nankivell

2020 Members’ Player and 
2020 Players’ Player 

Chelsea Pitman

2020 Spirit Award 
Shadine van der Merwe

Chelsea 
blackman
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national  
success

Southern Force

The Deakin University Australian Netball League (DUANL) 
is the competition underpinning the SSN. It provides a 
critical step in the pathway program between the Netball 
SA Premier League and the SSN. The Southern Force 
represent South Australia in the competition. 

In 2020, Brian Lines was re-appointed as the Head Coach 
of the Southern Force, with Lee-Anne Cummins making 
her debut as Assistant Coach. 

On 22 February 2020, the Southern Force played a 
critical role in Netball SA’s Bushfire Relief Fundraiser. The 
squad took on the Adelaide Thunderbirds at Priceline 
Stadium, raising funds for several relief efforts. This 
included support for squad member Georgie Horjus’ 
hometown of Kangaroo Island. 

Due to COVID-19 the 2020 DUANL competition was 
cancelled. However, this gave rise to new opportunities 
for players in other programs. 

Squad members and Adelaide Thunderbirds’ training 
partners Chelsea Blackman, Charlee Hodges, Georgie 
Horjus and Tayla Williams were elevated to the Adelaide 
Thunderbirds 12-person extended squad (allowable in 
the SSN’s 2020 condensed season).

Tyler Orr also made her SSN debut, joining the 
Collingwood Magpies as a replacement player. Kelly 
Altmann also joined the Collingwood Magpies as a 
replacement player.

2020 Southern Force Squad 
•	 Kelly Altmann (Oakdale)                         

•	 Lucy Austin (Matrics)             

•	 Chelsea Blackman (Contax)                    

•	 Emily Burgess (Matrics)        

•	 Beth Cobden              

•	 Sophie Croft (Matrics)                                 

•	 Georgia Dent (Matrics)                 

•	 Charlee Hodges (Contax)               

•	 Georgie Horjus (Contax)

•	 Chelsea Lemke (Contax)

•	 Tyler Orr (Matrics)

•	 Asha Thurlow (Metro Jets)

•	 Jordan Vivian (Oakdale)

•	 Molly Watson (Contax)

•	 Olivia Watts (Matrics)

•	 Tayla Williams (Contax)

Head Coach: Brian Lines
Assistant Coach: Lee-Anne Cummins

3
4

suncorp super 
netball debuts

squad members elevated to the 2020 12-person 
adelaide thunderbirds extended squad 
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The South Australian Sports Institute (SASI) Netball 
Program provides a daily training environment for the 
state’s nationally identified athletes. 

In 2020, former SASI athlete Maisie Nankivell was offered 
a permanent contract with the Adelaide Thunderbirds. 
SASI athletes Georgie Horjus, Tayla Williams and Chelsea 
Blackman were selected as Training Partners for the 
club. However, through the 12-person extended squad, 
all three athletes travelled to the SSN’s Queensland hub, 
and had opportunities for match play during the 2020 
season.  

While the 2020 National Championships was cancelled 
due to COVID-19, seven 17/U athletes and four 19/U 
athletes were nationally identified. These athletes 
all attended the Netball Australia’s Netball Centre 
of Excellence and received expert coaching and 
development opportunities.

SASI is also proud to have former athletes Sarah Klau 
and Maddy Proud selected for the Diamonds Squad in 
2020.

Category 3 Commonwealth
Athletes selected in the Australian Netball Diamonds’ 
team/squad and/or athletes selected in the National 
Talent Squad:

•	 Sara Klau
•	 Sasha Glasgow
•	 Hannah Petty
•	 Maddy Proud

Category 4 Developing
Athletes in the 21/U national squad, athletes selected in 
the 19/U national squad and/or identified as developing 
athletes by the national selectors:

•	 Nyah Allen (Garville/Collingwood Magpies)
•	 Krystal Anderson-Ives (Contax)
•	 Lucy Austin (Matrics)
•	 Chelsea Blackman (Contax)
•	 Casey Bernhardt (Matrics)
•	 Georgia Dent (Matrics)
•	 Tahlia Dnistrjanski (Contax)
•	 Georgie Horjus (Contax/Adelaide Thunderbirds)
•	 Tyler Orr (Matrics/Collingwood Magpies)
•	 Paris Sinclair (Tango)
•	 Molly Watson (Contax)
•	 Tayla Williams (Contax/Adelaide Thunderbirds)

Category 5 Emerging
Athletes in the 17/U national squad and/or identified as 
emerging athletes by the national selectors:

•	 Amelia Anderson (Contax)
•	 Sophie Casey (Matrics) 
•	 Kimberley Hearnden (Matrics)
•	 Poppy Gilfillan-Silk (Metro Jets)
•	 Jessie Grenvold (Contax)
•	 Olivia Nicholls (Metro Jets)
•	 Aaleya Turner (Metro Jets)

SASI Scholarship Talent
SASI Scholarship, but are currently not national 
identified or categorised by selectors:

•	 Cameron Golding (Oakdale)
•	 Georgia Kraft (Matrics)
•	 Rachel Redden (Woods Panthers)
•	 Ivy Rose-Hughes (Matrics)

South Australian sports 
institute (SASI) national squads

2020 Diamonds Squad
•	 Sarah Klau
•	 Maddy Proud

2020/21 Australian Development Squad
•	 Maisie Nankivell
•	 Sasha Glasgow
•	 Maddy Turner

2020 Netball Australia Centre of Excellence 
Squads
Netball Australia announced its Netball Centre of 
Excellence Squads for 2020, including the Australian 21/
Under squad selected ahead of the 2021 Netball World 
Youth Cup.

2020 21/U National Squad - South Australian athletes
•	 Nyah Allen (Garville/Collingwood Magpies)
•	 Lucy Austin (Matrics)
•	 Chelsea Blackman (Contax)
•	 Georgia Dent (Matrics)
•	 Georgie Horjus (Contax/Adelaide Thunderbirds)
•	 Tyler Orr (Matrics/Collingwood Magpies)
•	 Molly Watson (Contax)
•	 Tayla Williams (Contax/Adelaide Thunderbirds)

2020 19/U National Squad - South Australian athletes
•	 Krystal Anderson-Ives (Contax)
•	 Casey Bernhardt (Matrics)
•	 Tahlia Dnistrjanski (Contax)
•	 Paris Sinclair (Tango)

2020 17/U National Squad - South Australian athletes
•	 Amelia Anderson (Contax)
•	 Sophie Casey (Matrics) 
•	 Poppy Gilfillan-Silk (Metro Jets) 
•	 Jessie Grenvold (Contax)
•	 Kimberley Hearnden (Matrics)
•	 Olivia Nicholls (Metro Jets)
•	 Aaleya Turner (Metro Jets)

1

3

2

former SASI athlete offered 2020 Adelaide 
Thunderbirds permanent contract 

SASI athletes offered Adelaide Thunderbirds Training 
Partner contracts and elevated to the 12-person squad

former SASI athletes selected in the 
2020 Diamonds squad

2

3

19

south australian 
diamonds

South Australians selected in 2020/21 
Australian Development Squad

SA athletes named across the three 
Netball Centre of Excellence squads
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With both South Australia’s 17/U and 19/U winning 
gold at the 2019 National Netball Championships, the 
reigning champions were set to defend their title in the 
2020 competition. 

2020 was the first year the 17/U and 19/U State Team 
athletes utilised the Athlete Management System. This 
was in anticipation that from 2021 the system begins to 
be employed to its full capacity at the state team level.

The 2020 National Netball Championships were 
scheduled to take place in Hobart in April, however, was 
cancelled due to COVID-19.  

Despite the disappointment, Netball SA was proud to see 
State Team athletes excel in other opportunities within 
the pathway. 

Georgie Horjus made her debut with the Adelaide 
Thunderbirds, elevated from her position as a Training 
Partner into the 2020 12-person extended squad.  

Nyah Allen also made her debut with the Collingwood 
Magpies, also as an elevated Training Partner. 

Seven state team athletes were also recruited into the 
Netball SA Premier League:  Krystal Anderson-Ives 
(Contax), Casey Bernhardt (Matrics), Tahlia Dnistrjanski 
(Contax),  Poppy Gilfillan-Silk (Metro Jets), Monet Lyle 
(Metro Jets), Olivia Nicholls (Metro Jets) and Paris 
Sinclair (Tango).

All athletes named in both 2020 squads were recognised 
at Adelaide Thunderbirds’ Round 12 home game, when 
each was presented with their State Team dresses. 

17/u and 19/u state teams

17/U State Team Squad 
•	 Amelia Anderson (Contax)
•	 Sophie Casey (Matrics)
•	 Jordan Cowles (Matrics)
•	 Poppy Gilfillan-Silk (Metro Jets)
•	 Cameron Golding (Oakdale)
•	 Jessie Grenvold (Contax)
•	 Kimberley Hearnden (Matrics)
•	 Monet Lyle (Metro Jets)
•	 Olivia Nicholls (Metro Jets)
•	 Chelsea Swann (Contax)
•	 Aaleya Turner (Metro Jets)
•	 Jessie Wooldridge (Loxton North)

17/U State Team Staff
Head Coach: Kirsty Leonard-Down
Assistant Coach: Peta Maher
Team Manager: Lorren Atwell 
Physiotherapist: Jakson Messent 

24

2

7

athletes named in 17/u and 
19/u state team squads

state team athletes debuted 
in suncorp super netball

state team athletes joined 
netball sa premier league

19/U State Team Squad 
•	 Jordyn Adams (Garville)
•	 Nyah Allen (Garville)
•	 Krystal Anderson-Ives (Contax)
•	 Lucy Austin (Matrics)
•	 Casey Bernhardt (Matrics)
•	 Tahlia Dnistrjsanki (Contax)
•	 Lauren Frew (Matrics)
•	 Georgie Horjus (Contax)
•	 Ivy-Rose Hughes (Matrics)
•	 Georgia Kraft (Matrics)
•	 Paris Sinclair (Tango)
•	 Molly Watson (Contax)

19/U State Team Staff
Head Coach: Lee-Anne Cummins
Assistant Coach: Amanda Shattock
Team Manager: Jo Whelan
Physiotherapist: Scott Smith 
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making 
netball a 
place where 
people thrive 
and grow

people and culture
2020 has been a challenging year for Netball SA.  
Following the introduction of strict COVID-19 guidelines, 
95% of all staff were stood down, while a core team 
working reduced hours navigated the challenges of the 
pandemic. 

Like many businesses impacted by COVID-19, JobKeeper 
helped provide a lifeline for Netball SA. However, despite 
this, a significant restructure of the organisation was 
required. This included natural staff attrition involving 
not replacing roles upon any resignations. 

A key focus of Netball SA’s People and Culture efforts 
was the wellbeing of those on stand down and those 
managing the crisis within reduced capacity, some for 

up to six months. This included regular all staff online 
meetings, social activities, meditation and exercise 
sessions. 

Two staff members participated in Sport Australia’s 
Women Leaders in Sport program. One staff member 
was offered a partial scholarship from Sport Australia 
to complete a Diploma of Positive Psychology and 
Wellbeing.

Netball SA has a site safety committee who in 2020 
started to work through the WHS Action Plan developed 
at the end of 2019.  This plan was paused due to 
COVID-19 and will be amended and implemented in 
2021. 
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* Left the position during 2019/20 
^ Parental leave during 2019/20

Executive
Chief Executive Officer 

Bronwyn Klei
Executive Assistant 

Alycia Smith

Netball
General Manager - Netball 

Megan Wooldridge
Product and Pathways Manager 

Roz Fraser
Grassroots Pathways Coordinator 

Lucy Herde
Pre-elite Pathways Coordinator 

Rachel Heywood and Heidi Sandison
Stakeholder Relations Manager 

Hanna Heptinstall
Stakeholder Relations Coordinator 

Ashleigh Stratford*
Stakeholder Relations Coordinator 

Deanna Stainer
Stakeholder Relations Coordinator 

Cath Quinn*
Participation Manager 

Dusty Gould^
Participation Coordinator 

Kara Richards^* and Beth Cobden*

Adelaide Thunderbirds
General Manager - Adelaide Thunderbirds 

and Elite Pathways 
Melody Cooper*

Senior Operations and Commercial Manager - 
Adelaide Thunderbirds 

Teneille Kleinitz
Adelaide Thunderbirds and Southern Force 

Operations Manager 
Deborah Kassing

High Performance Manager 
Pitre Bourdon

Adelaide Thunderbirds Head Coach 
Tania Obst

Adelaide Thunderbirds Assistant Coach 
Cathy Fellows* 

Performance Analyst 
Jade Traynor

Strength and Conditioning Coach 
Kristie Sheridan* and Jay Collison

Corporate Services
General Manager Corporate Services 

Danielle Brautigan
Finance Manager 

Gee Barfield*
Finance Coordinator 

Debbie Green
Reception/Finance Assistant 

Sevanah Waterman
Stadium Manager 

Dee O’Loughlin*
Stadium Coordinator 

Trevor Anderson
Events Manager 
Karla Della-Pietra

Events Officer 
Thamsin Sharrad* and Chelsea Crawford*

People and Culture
People and Culture Manager 

Christy Tepaiho

Commercial
General Manager Commercial 

Mark Lukowicz*
Business Development Manager 

Doug White
Commercial Partner Account Manager 

Kristy Aufderheide*
Partnerships and Membership Manager 

Lauren Sherman
Commercial Sales Coordinator 

Jake Grosser*

Marketing and Communications

Marketing and Communications Manager 
Dianne Baruch

Media Manager 
Emmalie Balnaves-Gale

Communications Coordinator 
Rachel McLean

Video and Digital Content Coordinator 
Jake Cooper

staff Seda College

SEDA Netball SA Sports Development Program 
2020 was the second year of Netball SA’s industry 
partnership with SEDA College. 

SEDA College offers a sports industry-based model of 
learning for senior secondary students completing their 
SACE. 

Immersed in the sport and recreation industry, SEDA 
College provides a hands-on learning environment for 
its students. One where students are empowered to 
develop their practical skills and build strong networks, 
while completing their secondary education. 

In 2020, 17 SEDA students participated in the Netball SA 
Sports Development Program.

Students in the program were exposed to multiple facets 
of netball and provided invaluable support for Netball 
SA through school holiday clinics, the Academy Games, 
Thunder Cup, facility audits and MyNetball Assistance. 

17 seda students  
(8 at stage 1 and 9 at stage 2)

Our 2020-2022 Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) was set 
to commence this year. However, due to the impact of 
COVID-19, in consultation with Reconciliation Australia, it 
was agreed that it would be delayed until January 2021.

Netball SA Advisory Group
The Netball SA Advisory Group has been instrumental 
in the organisation’s steps toward reconciliation and we 
thank all participants for their involvement and support:

Advisory Group
•	 Debra Walker (Aunty Deb)
•	 Rigby Barnes 
•	 Vanessa Dempsey
•	 Christine Glenn
•	 Stephen Harfield
•	 Kelly Maxwell

Netball SA Staff
•	 Trevor Anderson
•	 Kristy Aufderheide
•	 Karla Della-Pietra
•	 Dusty Gould
•	 Bronwyn Klei
•	 Cath Quinn
•	 Lauren Sherman
•	 Alycia Smith
•	 Christy Tepaiho
•	 Sevanah Waterman
•	 Megan Wooldridge

Vanessa Dempsey Award
Named after its inaugural winner, the Vanessa Dempsey 
award recognises significant contributions to the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities.

Celebrating outstanding individual achievements 
in this important space, it forms part of Netball SA’s 
commitment to reconciliation, as supported in the 
Reconciliation Action Plan.

In December 2019, the Vanessa Dempsey Award was 
awarded to Tracey Miller from Koonibba Netball 
Club, Ceduna. Tracy was bestowed the honour for 
her significant contribution to the engagement and 
support of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander netball 
participants and communities.

reconciliation action plan

Netball SA Sports Development Program  
Award Winners
Volunteer of the Year 
Jasmin Luscott

Service to Netball SA 
Shanti Gabell

SEDA Supershot (aligned values award) 
Briarne Kliems Carlaw



40  //  NETBALL SA ANNUAL REPORT 2020  NETBALL SA ANNUAL REPORT 2020  //   41

Stadium

Like all venues operating in the complex COVID-19 
world, 2020 has seen some unique challenges for the 
stadium. Following a 58 day stadium shutdown, upon its 
reopening, Netball SA worked tirelessly with SA Health 
and SA Police to ensure patrons could access and enjoy 
the stadium, albeit on a reduced scale. 

An approved COVID Management Plan for the stadium 
allowed for the delivery of junior and secondary school 
carnivals, the full Netball SA Premier League season, 
a condensed AMND season, as well as various clinics, 
carnivals and competitions. Additionally, the stadium 
was proudly the only venue outside Queensland to host 
2020 SSN matches, delivering three games in eight days. 

The stadium complex remains on restricted patronage, 
with strict attention to ensuring the safety and 
management of visitors in complying with SA Health 
requirements.

Netball SA thanks all its loyal patrons for the support 
and patience displayed while navigating the impacts of 
COVID-19. 

Netball SA Events
In February 2020, Netball SA proudly hosted the Bushfire 
Relief Fundraiser in aid of fellow South Australians. 

The event saw the Adelaide Thunderbirds take on the 
Southern Force. Thanks to the generosity of Netball SA’s 
supporters, the event successfully raised more than 
$17,000 through entry, raffles and BBQs, benefiting both 
people and wildlife affected by the tragedy. 

Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, the 2020 Adelaide 
Thunderbirds Fan Day and Season Launch, Priceline 
Pharmacy Country Championships and the Deakin 
University Australian Netball League were cancelled.

In 2020, the SSN operated within strict COVID-19 
restrictions, requiring a unique focus on event 
operations. 

With the Adelaide Thunderbirds fortunate to host three 
Adelaide games, outside of the otherwise Queensland 
bubble, it provided South Australian fans with a unique 
opportunity to see the team take the court up close. 

The restrictions drove an increased focus on event 
presentation through use of the big screen, audio visual 
and the MC announcements to engage the crowds - who 
brought fantastic energy to each game. Additionally, 
clubs were required to host all seven allocated home 
games, delivering all event presentation requirements 
remotely where required. 

priceline stadium
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government 
investment

priceline stadium redevelopment
Thanks to grant funding first generously provided to 
Netball SA in 2017 by the South Australian Government, 
Priceline Stadium has undergone significant upgrades 
under phase one of the redevelopment.  

The stadium carpark was entirely reconfigured 
and resurfaced; prioritising safety for vehicles and 
pedestrians, increasing the number of carparks and 
improving overall ingress and egress. 

Change and bathroom facilities were upgraded across 
the venue, adding three additional change facilities 
to cater for increased demand across the community, 
athletes and officials.

Several cost saving and compliance measures were 
addressed, with improvements in electrical, plumbing 
and access systems. 

Works will continue for phase one with the delivery of 
renovated outdoor toilet facilities, including an addition 
of a female change facility. 

GRANTS
SAASTA Aboriginal Netball Academy 

ORSR provides funds annually to Netball SA to support 
the delivery of the educational, cultural and sporting 
development of students enrolled in the SAASTA 
Aboriginal Netball Academy.

Confident Girls Foundation Bushfire  
Recovery Grants
Through the Confident Girls Foundation Bushfire 
Recovery Grants initiative, Kangaroo Island Netball 
Association and Western Districts Memorial Community 
Sports Club each received $10,000. 

Netball Australia’s official charity established the 
Bushfire Relief Appeal to support associations and clubs 
within the netball community affected by the fires. 

Round One was designed to provide funds to help 
rebuild infrastructure, purchase equipment, cover the 
cost of registrations and fees, hold clinics and special 
community events and supply uniforms, among many 
other initiatives.
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Grassroots Football, Cricket and Netball 
Facility Program
Through ORSR, the Grassroots Football, Cricket and 
Netball Facility Program aims to address critical 
infrastructure upgrades in grassroots sporting facilities 
to increase participation. Netball SA Members were 
among those successful in obtaining the grant. 

ROUND 2
Adelaide Hills Council - $490,000
To redevelop and upgrade two existing change rooms 
to unisex, construct two new unisex change rooms in 
a second storey to be added to the building, and to 
upgrade the cricket nets, at Heathfield Oval, Heathfield. 

Alexandrina Council - $800,000
To construct a new comprehensive modular multi-
purpose community sporting facility, including four 
unisex change rooms, community spaces, player 
and spectator amenities, umpire and official areas, 
administrative spaces, and storage at the Goolwa Oval 
Sporting Precinct, Goolwa. 

Cherry Gardens Ironbank Recreation Ground 
Incorporated - $255,000
To install new modular unisex change room facilities, 
including umpires change rooms, medical rooms and 
an operable wall to allow the space to also be used 
for active recreation, at the Cherry Gardens Ironbank 
Recreation Ground, Cherry Gardens. 

Mid Hills Netball Association Incorporated - $99,000
To resurface six courts, and upgrade to compliant LED 
sports lighting on courts 1-12, at the Mid Hills Netball 
Association, Woodside. 

The Barossa Council - $881,000
To redevelop and upgrade existing change rooms to 
unisex, construct two new unisex change rooms, install a 
new junior oval, upgrade community spaces and install 
new cricket nets at the Angas Recreation Park, Angaston. 

The Clare Sports Club Incorporated -$880,000
To construct a new unisex change room facility including 
umpires rooms, medical rooms, a function centre, 
outdoor spectator seating, and viewing areas at the Clare 
Oval Sporting Precinct, Clare. 

Victoria Park Jamestown Management Committee 
Incorporated - $400,000
To construct new unisex change rooms at the Victoria 
Park Community Sporting Hub, Jamestown. 

ROUND 3
City of Tea Tree Gully - $92,500
To upgrade and resurface 20 courts at the South 
Australian District Netball Association, Golden Grove. 

Encounter Bay Football Club Incorporated - $400,000
To construct new unisex change room facilities, and 
to upgrade existing amenities including umpire and 
medical change rooms at the Encounter Bay Football 
Club, Victor Harbor. 

The Barossa Council - $197,000
To upgrade six courts, and install sports flood lighting, at 
Old Talunga Park, Mount Pleasant. 

The Crystal Brook Football Club Incorporated  - 
$216,500
To construct a new unisex change room facility including 
umpire and medical rooms, canteen facilities, and flood 
lighting for the netball courts at the Crystal Brook Oval 
Precinct, Crystal Brook. 

Tintinara Oval and Rec Association Incorporated - 
$275,000
To redevelop and upgrade existing change rooms, 
incorporating umpires change rooms and a new storage 
area, plus two resurfaced netball/tennis courts and 
netball shelter shed at Tintinara Oval and Recreation 
Association, Tintinara. 
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Netball SA’s Marketing and Communications continue 
to support the whole of business portfolio including the 
Netball SA, Adelaide Thunderbirds, Premier League and 
Priceline Stadium brands. 

As a key stage of Netball Australia’s Digital 
Transformation project, new websites were relaunched 
for both Netball SA and Adelaide Thunderbirds in 
January 2020. 

Netball SA also worked closely with Netball Australia to 
deliver the national Customer Segmentation project. 
This major strategic initiative helps to provide deeper 
insights on netball’s customers and how we can 
effectively engage with them to grow the game and 
inform future strategies.  

The Netball SA and Adelaide Thunderbirds brands united 
for the Bushfire Relief Fundraiser, in which the Adelaide 
Thunderbirds took on the Southern Force, with over 
2,000 spectators in attendance. 

Across all brands, the outbreak of COVID-19 drove 
an increased focus on digital strategies including 
information and fan hubs, a webinar series, expanded 
video content and supporting partners’ shift to digital 
assets.  

To further strengthen our ‘Strong Voice’ pillar, the in-
house Media Manager role was introduced in March 
2020. From grassroots to elite, media opportunities 
across the business included coverage across television, 
digital, radio and print.  

The 2020 Netball SA Premier League season was 
underpinned by the launch of the ‘Game On’ campaign, 
new look and feel and a season launch media event. In 
2020, Spacequake Sports supported the Premier League 
with livestream coverage for the Court One games of all 
14 rounds and the finals series, helping to further extend 
the competition’s online reach.   

MARKETING AND COMMUNICATIONS

STRONG VOICE

50,981 

15,126 

5,484

30,949 

2,113

12,232 6,510

2,419

2.39% increase

0.25% increase

1.42% increase

13% increase

21.34% increase

8.98% increase

98.40% increase
26,440
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Financial  
stability

Adelaide Thunderbirds Membership

To launch the 2020 season, Flight Centre extended 
its partnership to support the Adelaide Thunderbirds 
membership program, including engaging activations 
and offerings for the clubs’ most loyal supporters.  

The 2020 membership program became available 
in February 2020, however, like most areas of sport, 
was significantly impacted by COVID-19 shortly after. 
Membership sales were paused and priority shifted 
to helping ensure existing members’ attendance at 
Priceline Stadium and providing the best member 
experience possible. To continue to deliver value 
to members, the club increased its focus on digital 
engagement, including online Sprout cooking classes 
with players, players delivering meals to members, 
merchandise incentives and competitions. 

With the Adelaide Thunderbirds provided the unique 
opportunity to host the only three games outside of 
the Queensland hub, the club presented members with 
revised offerings. And in a rapidly changing environment, 
were overwhelmed by members’ support, with 80% 
converting to revised membership options and attending 
the games. This included 30% generously pledging 100% 
of their membership. 

Member Recognition Round opened the first of the three 
Adelaide games, showing the Adelaide Thunderbirds’ 
gratitude to those who stood by the club in a year like no 
other. 

Commercial

1,003* adelaide thunderbirds 
members

*10 members rolled their 2020 membership into 2021 due to health risks associated with COVID-19, but were still 
considered a member in the 2020 season bringing the total reported number to 1,003.
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In 2020, the commercial landscape faced significant 
challenges as COVID-19 considerably impacted various 
industries, including sport. The unprecedented events, 
further increased Netball SA’s focus on delivering value 
for existing partners, more so than acquiring new 
business. This resulted in overall commercial revenue of 
$1.15 million. 

The SSN welcomed Nissan and Origin as major partners, 
supporting both elite and grassroots netball and this 
partnership was extended to the Adelaide Thunderbirds 
and Netball SA. 

2020 saw St Louis Home Care, who provide community 
support for carers and elderly, partner with the Adelaide 
Thunderbirds through a two-year agreement.  SASMA 
also joined forces with Netball SA as the stadium’s first 
aid room provider, ensuring elite service and support in 
all events. 

Due to the impact of COVID-19 and limited events, 
commercial strategies shifted from physical activations 
and engagement to an increased focus on digital 
opportunities.  

The conclusion of the 2020 winter season also saw 
Priceline Pharmacy’s departure from Netball SA 
following seven years of supporting netball at all levels 
in South Australia. Netball SA thank Priceline Pharmacy 
for their partnership and commitment to netball in the 
state.

With netball’s full bounce back set for 2021, Netball SA 
and the Adelaide Thunderbirds prepare to welcome new 
partners to the netball family. In a year like no other, 
Netball SA thanks all the invaluable partners who have 
helped ensure the power of netball continues to unite 
and uplift communities.  

our partners
Adelaide Thunderbirds  
ticketing and match day attendance Adelaide Thunderbirds broadcast

premier

Corporate

major

In alignment with COVID-19 Management Plans, 
1,500 spectators were able to attend each Adelaide 
Thunderbirds game at Priceline Stadium. 

The government-approved capacity ensured that the 
club could accommodate all members across the three 
games, however, no general public tickets were available 
in 2020.  

Limited tickets were offered to SAPSASA participants and 
families, whose carnival aligned with the final two home 
games. 

The Pink Army were thrilled to watch their Adelaide 
Thunderbirds live in a year where many others were not 
able to do so. Total ticketing achieved $4,900 in revenue, 
with total attendance reaching 3,636 across the three 
Adelaide games.

The Adelaide Thunderbirds were allocated four live 
Channel 9 broadcast games in 2020 with a gross TV 
viewership of 497,000. While this is down from 680,000 
achieved in 2019, it reflects two less broadcast games 
compared to the previous year.  The average ratings for 
the Adelaide Thunderbirds once again outperformed 
the local A-League, NBL and all female sporting codes. 
(Source: OzTAM Metro Total TV & Regional FTA, 5 City 
Metro & Combined Agg.Mkt, 02:00-25.59, Overnight & 
Consolidated 7).

SSN streaming across the country grew by 34% YOY, with 
mid-week games, introduced in 2020, proving to be most 
popular (Source: Telstra TV audience measurement). 
SSN also attracted 1.1 million new viewers on metro TV 
this season (Source: OzTAM Metro Total TV, 5 City Metro, 
02:00-25:59, Overnights). 

SIGNAGE - BANNERS - VEHICLES - 3D & ILLUMINATEDSIGNAGE - BANNERS - VEHICLES - 3D & ILLUMINATED

stand out from the crowd....stand out from the crowd....

0419 030 7480419 030 748

SIGNAGE - BANNERS - VEHICLES - 3D & ILLUMINATED

stand out from the crowd....

0419 030 748

3,636 total attendance across three 
home games

3 suncorp super netball games hosted in adelaide 
-The only games to be held outside queensland
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On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organisation 
declared a global COVID-19 pandemic, an outbreak that 
ultimately defined the year ahead. 

The impact of COVID-19 certainly took its toll on the 
sporting landscape and for netball it was no different. 

In South Australia, the introduction of government 
restrictions meant the sport was put on hold and the 
stadium at Mile End was closed.

As a result, NSA was significantly affected financially 
and incurred an operating deficit of $311,809. However, 
the audited financial statements show a profit of 
$4,102,643. This has occurred as a result of recognising 
capital grant revenue received from the State 
Government, which could only be used for upgrades to 
the stadium at Mile End.

The disruption of the pandemic meant NSA was 
unable to deliver against its strategic objectives for the 

operating performance
financial year. Several factors contributed to a reduction 
in overall revenue opportunities for NSA as a result of 
COVID-19, including:

•	 Winter and Summer netball competitions heavily 
reduced

•	 Reduced participation across the state
•	 Venue capacity reduced by 50%, impacting facility 

hire and entry fees
•	 Adelaide Thunderbirds home games limited to just 

three
•	 Cancellation of external events
•	 Reduced sponsorship income

The pandemic presented NSA with a significant 
challenge financially, but with the support of state and 
federal governments, it managed to continue operating. 
As the organisation enters a new financial year, the focus 
will be set on strengthening NSA’s financial position into 
the future.

Financial  
report
For the year ended  
30 september 2020
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Note 2020 2019
$  $  

Operating revenue and other income 2 5,633,564        7,478,476        
Capital revenue 4,414,452        323,888           

Cost of sales (113,380)          (201,422)          
Employee benefits expenses (3,396,883)       (3,755,410)       
Depreciation expense 8 (328,301)          (281,105)          
Finance costs (12,824)            (4,871)              
Other expenses 3 (2,093,985)       (3,952,399)       

Current year surplus (deficit) 4,102,643        (392,843)          

Other Comprehensive Income -                   -                   

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 4,102,643        (392,843)          
  

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

ABN : 12 814 437 874

The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
Page 5

Note 2020 2019
$  $  

Operating revenue and other income 2 5,633,564        7,478,476        
Capital revenue 4,414,452        323,888           

Cost of sales (113,380)          (201,422)          
Employee benefits expenses (3,396,883)       (3,755,410)       
Depreciation expense 8 (328,301)          (281,105)          
Finance costs (12,824)            (4,871)              
Other expenses 3 (2,093,985)       (3,952,399)       

Current year surplus (deficit) 4,102,643        (392,843)          

Other Comprehensive Income -                   -                   

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 4,102,643        (392,843)          
  

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

ABN : 12 814 437 874

The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
Page 5



58 | Netball South Australia
(16) (17)

6  //  NETBALL SA FINANCIAL REPORT 2020  NETBALL SA FINANCIAL REPORT 2020 // 7

Retained Capital works Total
surplus reserve

$ $ $

Balance at 1 October 2018 3,301,597      400,000         3,701,597    

Net surplus (deficit) for the year (392,843) -                 (392,843)     

Balance at 30 September 2019 2,908,754 400,000 3,308,754 

Balance at 1 October 2019 2,908,754      400,000         3,308,754 

Net surplus (deficit) for the year 4,102,643      -                 4,102,643    

Balance at 30 September 2020 7,011,397 400,000 7,411,397 
 

 
 

 

 
 

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED
ABN : 12 814 437 874

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
Page 7
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Note 2020 2019
$  $  

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 4 2,338,276         6,157,806         
Accounts receivable and other debtors 5 264,939            546,029            
Inventories 6 16,148              27,269              
Other current assets 7 90,768              215,628            

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,710,131         6,946,732         
  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 8 7,170,473         3,482,917         

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 7,170,473         3,482,917         

TOTAL ASSETS 9,880,604         10,429,649       

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other payables 9 717,686            881,738            
Other liabilities 10 1,566,553         6,051,897         
Employee provisions 11 148,167            160,747            

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,432,406         7,094,382         

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Employee provisions 11 36,801              26,513              

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 36,801              26,513              

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,469,207         7,120,895         

NET ASSETS  7,411,397         3,308,754         

EQUITY
Retained surplus 7,011,397         2,908,754         
Capital works reserve 12 400,000            400,000            

TOTAL EQUITY 7,411,397         3,308,754         

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

ABN : 12 814 437 874

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
Page 6
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting Policies

(a)

(b)

(c)

The financial statements cover South Australian Netball Association Incorporated as an individual entity. South Australian 
Netball Association Incorporated is an association incorporated in South Australia and operating pursuant to the 
Associations Incorporation Act (SA) 1985.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the 
Associations Incorporation Act (SA) 1985. The association is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Fair value is the price the association would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an orderly
(ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the measurement date.

The association measures some of its assets at fair value on a recurring basis.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial 
statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied 
unless stated otherwise.

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to 
determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific asset 
or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more 
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data.

The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments may be valued, where there is no observable market 
price in relation to the transfer of such financial instrument, by reference to observable market information where such 
instruments are held as assets.  Where this information is not available, other valuation techniques are adopted and, 
where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial statements.

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED

Income Tax

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to its estimated recoverable amount and impairment
losses recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. A
formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1(e) for details of
impairment).
The cost of fixed assets constructed within the association includes the cost of materials, direct labour and borrowing
costs.

ABN : 12 814 437 874

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or liability (ie the 
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the most 
advantageous market available to the entity at reporting date (ie the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of 
the asset or minimises the payment made to transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs and transport 
costs).

South Australian Netball Association Incorporated applies Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements as set out in AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standard.

Plant and equipment

Basis of Preparation

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s ability to use the asset 
in its highest and best use, or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial 
assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 

South Australian Netball Association Incorporated is not subject to income tax and therefore no income tax expense or
income tax payable is shown in the financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

Page 9

2020 2019
Note $  $  

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from funding bodies and customers 10,295,336      7,837,085      
Payments to suppliers and employees (10,115,485)    (7,852,252)     
Interest paid (12,824)           12,563           
Interest received 29,300             (4,871)            

.
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 15 196,327           (7,475)            

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments relating to capital works in progress -                      (443,834)        
Payments for property, plant and equipment (4,015,857)      (726,391)        

Net cash used in investing activities (4,015,857)      (1,170,225)     

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -                  -                 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities -                  -                 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HELD (3,819,530)      (1,177,700)     

Cash at the beginning of the financial year 6,157,806        7,335,506

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 4 2,338,276        6,157,806      

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

ABN : 12 814 437 874

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED
ABN : 12 814 437 874

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

(e)

(f)

(g)

The association’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are recognised as a 
part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. 

Short-term employee benefits

Leases

Finance leases are capitalised by recognising an asset and a liability at the lower of the amount equal to the fair value of 
the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease 
payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.

The association has elected to apply the exceptions to lease accounting for leases of low-value assets. For these leases, 
the association recognises the payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are recognised 
as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Where an impairment loss on a revalued individual asset is identified, this is recognised against the revaluation surplus in 
respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation 
surplus for that class of asset.

● The association has the right to direct the use of the asset i.e. decision-making rights in relation to changing how and for 
what purpose the asset is used.

● The association has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout the 
period of use

At the end of each reporting period, the Association reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, is 
compared to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Association estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairment

At inception of a contract, the association assesses whether a lease exists – i.e. does the contract convey the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  This involves an assessment of 
whether:

Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset (but not the 
legal ownership) are transferred to the association, are classified as finance leases.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely that the 
association will obtain ownership of the asset or ownership over the term of the lease.

The lease for the stadium is still under negotiation. Once the details have been agreed,pursant to the exemption, a lease 
liability will be brought to the statement of financial position, with a corresponding right of use asset to the same value 
being recognised.

● The contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be explicitly or implicitly identified within the agreement. If 
the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then there is no identified asset.

In the comparative reporting period, the following accounting policies applied for leases:

Concessionary Leases

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the lease term.

Employee Provisions

For leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the Association to further its 
objectives (commonly known as peppercorn/concessionary leases), the Association has adopted the temporary relief 
under AASB 2018-8 and will measure the right-of-use assets at cost on initial recognition.

Provision is made for the association’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are 
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the 
annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-
term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED
ABN : 12 814 437 874

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

        Buildings and leasehold improvements 2.5% - 40%
        Plant & equipment 10% - 66.67%
        Furniture, fixtures & fittings 20% - 40%
        Motor vehicles 22.5% - 25%
        Computer equipment 50% - 66.67%

(d)

The association considers a financial asset is in default when internal or external information indicates that the outstanding 
contractual amounts are unlikely to be received. Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Classification and subsequent measurement

(ii) assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value and any net change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss; 
and

(iii) assets classified as FVOCI are measured at fair value and any net change in fair value is recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income, Gains or losses on these assets realised on derecognition are recognised in profit or loss.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are:

1) Amortised cost

Financial Instruments

(i) assets classified as amortised cost are measured using the effective interest rate method and are subject to impairment 
assessments. Realised gains and losses on these assets recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 
modified or impaired;

Subsequently:

2) Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”); or

These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any transaction costs, or in the case of assets classified as FVTPL.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing net proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they occur. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included 
in the revaluation relating to that asset are transferred to retained surplus.

3) Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (“FVOCI”)

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of AASB 9 are initially classified as into one of these 3 groups on 
the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and whether the contractual cash flows re limited 
to payments of principal or principal plus interest:

Initial recognition and measurement

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the association and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.

Financial asset impairment is assessed at the end of each financial period using the expected credit loss (ECL) model, 
except for assets classified as FVTPL. It is calculated by deducting from the contractual cash flows due to the entity the 
cash flows that the association expects to receive, discounted at a rate that approximates the effective interest rate at 
inception.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the association becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the association commits itself to either the purchase or sale of 
the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).

Impairment

Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, including buildings and leasehold improvements, is depreciated on a straight-
line or diminishing value basis over the asset’s useful life commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED
ABN : 12 814 437 874

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

Grant income

Capital grants

Interest Income

(k)

(l)
Inventories held for sale are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

(m)

(n)

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customer.

Grants are treated according to the specifications of the grant funding agreements. Grant income and expenses are 
recognised as specified by the grant funding agreements.

Comparative Figures

Capital grants received under an enforceable agreement to enable the association to acquire or construct an item of 
property, plant and equipment to identified specifications which will be controlled by the association (once complete) are 
recognised as revenue as and when the obligation to construct or purchase is completed.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method, which for floating rate financial assets is the rate 
inherent in the instrument. 

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method, which for floating rate financial assets is the rate 
inherent in the instrument. 

For construction projects, this is generally as the construction progresses in accordance with costs incurred since this is 
deemed to be the most appropriate measure of the completeness of the construction project as there is no profit margin.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts
from customers or payments to suppliers.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial
position.

Accounts payable and other payables represent the liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods and
services received by the association during the reporting period that remain unpaid. The balance is recognised as a
current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

For acquisitions of assets, the revenue is recognised when the asset is acquired and controlled by the association.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received.

In the comparative reporting period, the following accounting policies applied for revenue and other income:

When required by Accounting Standards or for improved presentation of the financial report, comparative figures have
been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current financial year.

Assets arising from grants in the scope of AASB 1058 are recognised at their fair value when the asset is received. These 
assets are generally cash but maybe property which has been donated or sold to the association at significantly below its 
fair value.

Once the asset has been recognised, the association recognises any related liability amounts (e.g. provisions, financial 
liabilities).

Inventories

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax.

Accounts Payable and Other Payables

Once the assets and liabilities have been recognised then income is recognised for any difference between the recorded 
asset and liability
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED
ABN : 12 814 437 874

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

(h)

(i)

(j)

The customer for these contracts is the fund provider.
Revenue is recognised by applying a five-step model as follows:
1.   Identify the contract with the customer
2.   Identify the performance obligations
3.   Determine the transaction price
4.   Allocate the transaction price
5.   Recognise revenue

Contract liabilities generally represent the unspent grants or other fees received on the condition that specified services 
are delivered or conditions are fulfilled. The services are usually provided, or the conditions usually fulfilled within 12 
months of receipt of the grant / fees. Where the amount received is in respect of services to be provided over a period that 
exceeds 12 months after the reporting date or the conditions will only be satisfied more than 12 months after the reporting 
date, the liability is presented as non-current. Where the monies are received for the association to acquire or construct an 
item of property, plant and equipment which will be controlled by the association then the funds are recognised as a 
contract liability and amortised to revenue as and when the obligation is satisfied.

Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from members as well as amounts receivable from customers
for goods sold in the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the
reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets.
Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1(e) for further discussion on the determination of
impairment losses.

The association has elected to adopt AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-
Profit Entities this period with a date of initial application of 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective (cumulative 
catch-up) method which means the comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under 
AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 1004 Contributions and related interpretations.

None of the revenue streams of the association have any significant financing terms as there is less than 12 months 
between receipt of funds and satisfaction of performance obligations.

Provision is made for employees’ annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the 
end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits 
are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments 
incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures, and are discounted at 
rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity 
dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Any remeasurements of obligations for other long-term employee 
benefits for changes in assumptions are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur. 

Generally the timing of the payment for sale of goods and rendering of services corresponds closely to the timing of 
satisfaction of the performance obligations, however where there is a difference, it will result in the recognition of a 
receivable, contract asset or contract liability.  This is the case for application fees for new members, which are recognised 
as income over the expected term of membership.

Revenue and Other Income

AASB 15 requires revenue to be recognised when control of a promised good or service is passed to the customer at an 
amount which reflects the expected consideration.

The association’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its statement of 
financial position, except where the association does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the reporting date, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

Contract assets arise when work has been performed on a particular program and goods or services have been 
transferred to the customer but the invoicing milestone has not been reached and the rights to the consideration are not 
unconditional. If the rights to the consideration are unconditional then a receivable is recognised. No impairment losses 
were recognised in relation to these assets during the year (2019: $nil).

Other long-term employee benefits

Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors

Cash and Cash Equivalents
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED
ABN : 12 814 437 874

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

NOTE 2: OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 2020 2019
$   $   

Revenue from contracts with customers:
Affiliation fees 859,226            1,464,192      
Sponsorship Income 865,371            1,704,927      
Grants and distributions received 838,544            942,333         
Entrance fees and season passes 576,244            1,007,236      
Hospitality 245,459            525,133         
Facility Hire 181,331            252,335         
Membership and ticket sales 102,441            427,750         
Participation and community education 363,268            494,323         
Recharges 115,182            148,755         
Merchandise sales 12,466             17,220           
Income related to Darwin game -                   380,982         
Jobkeeper and other subsidies 1,359,617         -                
Other income 85,115             120,152         

Total revenue from contracts with customers 5,604,264         7,485,338      

Other revenue and income:

Interest received 29,300             (6,862)           

Total Other Revenue 29,300             (6,862)           

Total Operating Revenue and Other Income 5,633,564         7,478,476      

NOTE 3: OTHER EXPENSES 2020 2019
$   $   

Advertising and marketing 60,286                      224,839 
Event expenses 49,553                      301,267 
Professional services 201,960                     302,562 
Electricity 78,054                      109,450 
Insurance - participants and general 226,757                     329,553 
Netball Australia levy 57,161                      174,483 
Motor vehicle expenses 16,215                      131,032 
Officials and coaching staff program expense 169,882                     300,289 
Grants and development distributions 7,375                          69,676 
Registration and participation fees 78,228                      109,560 
Travel 184,524                     357,328 
Uniforms 67,995                      173,215 
Sponsor servicing 22,734                      163,356 
Facility lease expenditure 40,637                        42,198 
Bad and doubtful debts 4,470                          31,255 
Stadium expenses 289,719            302,730         
Other Costs 408,523            385,578         
IT and communication expenses 129,912            139,048         
Expenses related to Darwin game -                            304,980 

Total other expenses          2,093,985       3,952,399 

NOTE 4 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT ASSETS 2020 2019
$   $   

Cash at bank 2,330,663         6,143,788      
Cash on hand 7,613               14,018           

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,338,276         6,157,806      

2,338,276         6,157,806      

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to items in the statement of financial position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents

Reconciliation of cash
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

(o)

(p) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

Key estimates
(i) Useful lives of property, plant & equipment

(i) Performance obligations under AASB15 and AASB 1058

(iii) Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic

(q) Going Concern

2020 2019
$   $   

Operating revenue and other income          5,633,564       7,478,476 
Cost of sales            (113,380)         (201,422)
Employee benefits expenses         (3,396,883)      (3,755,410)
Depreciation expense            (328,301)         (281,105)
Finance costs             (12,824)             (4,871)
Other expenses         (2,093,985)      (3,952,399)
Operating Loss            (311,809)         (716,731)

·  Continued support from funding bodies; and
·  Management and costs restructure resulting in improved and profitable operations.

·  The association will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and
·  The basis of preparation of the financial report on a going concern basis is appropriate.
No adjustments were made to the assets and liabilities within the financial statements in relation to this uncertainty.

Key Judgements

The financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2020 have been prepared on a going concern basis.
For the year ended 30 September 2020 the association recorded an operating loss of $311,809 (2019: $716,731) 
calculated as follows:

As described in Note 1(c), the association reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of 
each annual reporting period.

Provisions

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may 
have, on the association based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and 
services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the association operates. Other than 
as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial 
statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the association 
unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to determine 
when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific 
by taking into account any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or 
services. In making this assessment, management includes the nature/ type, cost/value, quantity and the period of transfer 
related to the goods or services promised

After taking into account all available information, the Board has concluded that there are reasonable grounds to believe:

(ii)  Employee Benefits
For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) defines obligations for short-term 
employee benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting 
period in which the employees render the related services. As the association expects that all of its employees would use 
all of their annual leave entitlements earned during a reporting period before 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period, the association believes that obligations for annual leave entitlements satisfy the definition of short-term employee 
benefits and, therefore, can be measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid to employees when the 
obligations are settled.

The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge 
and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the association.

Provisions are recognised when the association has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. Provisions
recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period.

Notwithstanding the operating results the board believes the going concern basis is appropriate. This expectation is based 
on the following:
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 Computer 
equipment

$ 

 Capital works in 
progress

$ 
 Total

$ 

Balance at 1 October 2019 70,660       323,888            3,482,917      
Additions -             -                   4,015,857      
Transfers -             (323,888)          -                
Disposals at book value -             -                   -                
Depreciation expense (22,249)      -                   (328,301)        

48,411       -                   7,170,473      

NOTE 9 - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2020 2019
$   $   

Current
Accounts payable 378,814            274,320         
Other payables & accrued expenses 338,872            607,418         

Total accounts payable and other payables 717,686            881,738         

Accounts payable and other payables:
- total current 717,686            881,738         
- total non-current -                   -                

717,686            881,738         
Less Accrued expenses and clearing accounts 338,872            607,418         

Financial liabilities as accounts payable & other payables 378,814            274,320         

Collateral Pledged
No collateral has been pledged for any of the accounts payable and other payable balances.

NOTE 10 - OTHER LIABILITIES 2020 2019
$   $   

Current
Contract liabilities 1,478,435         6,012,331      
Income in advance 88,118             39,566           

Total other current liabilities 1,566,553         6,051,897      

NOTE 11 - EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS 2020 2019
$   $   

Current
Provision for annual leave 106,931            100,921         
Provision for long service leave  41,236             59,826           

148,167            160,747         
Non-Current
Provision for long service leave 36,801             26,513           

Total employee provisions 184,968            187,260         

Provisions include amounts accrued for annual leave. Based on past experience, the association expects the full amount
of the annual leave balance to be settled within the next 12 months. Further these amounts must be classified as
current liabilities since the association does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in
the event employees wish to use their leave entitlements.

NOTE 12 - RESERVES

Capital works reserve
This reserve was created in 2011/12. Amounts allocated to this reserve are determined by the board on an annual basis. The 
funds will primarily be used for capital works.

 Carrying Amount at 30 September 2020 
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NOTE 5 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER DEBTORS 2020 2019
$   $   

Accounts receivable 275,753            577,488         
Other receivables 5,482               -                

281,235            577,488         
Less : Provision for doubtful debts (16,296)            (31,459)          

Total accounts receivable and other debtors 264,939            546,029         

NOTE 6 - INVENTORIES 2020 2019
$   $   

Merchandise and trading stock 16,148             27,269           

Total inventories 16,148             27,269           

NOTE 7 - OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 2020 2019
$   $   

Prepayments 90,768             110,413         
Accrued income -                   105,215         

Total other current assets 90,768             215,628         

NOTE 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2020 2019
$   $   

Buildings and leasehold improvements at cost 9,115,426         4,775,681      
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (2,125,876)       (1,943,020)     

6,989,550         2,832,661      

Plant and equipment at cost 470,842            470,842         
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (355,040)          (268,892)        

115,802            201,950         

Furniture, fixtures and fittings at cost 326,240            326,240         
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (309,530)          (276,159)        

16,710             50,081           

Motor vehicles at cost 47,958             47,958           
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (47,958)            (44,281)          

-                   3,677             

Computer equipment at cost 327,258            327,258         
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (278,847)          (256,598)        

48,411             70,660           

Capital works in progress at cost -                   323,888         

Total Property, plant & equipment 7,170,473         3,482,917      

Movements in carrying amounts   
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the 
beginning and the end of the current financial year:

 Buildings and 
leasehold 

improvements     
$ 

 Plant & 
equipment

$ 

 Furniture, fixtures 
and fittings

$ 
 Motor vehicles

$ 

Balance at 1 October 2019 2,832,661      201,950     50,081             3,677             
Additions 4,015,857      -             -                   -                
Transfers 323,888         -             -                   -                
Disposals at book value -                -             -                   -                
Depreciation expense (182,856)        (86,148)      (33,371)            (3,677)           

6,989,550      115,802     16,710             -                
  

 Carrying Amount at 30 September 2020 
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED
ABN : 12 814 437 874

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

Note 2020 2019
$   $   

Financial assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents 4          2,338,276       6,157,806 
Accounts receivable and other debtors 5             275,753          577,488 
Total financial assets          2,614,029       6,735,294 

Financial Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and other payables 9             378,814          274,320 
Total financial liabilities             378,814          274,320 

a. Liquidity risk

  - preparing forward-looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing and financing activities; and
  - only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions.

b. Credit risk

Credit risk exposures

The association has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of counterparties.

c. Market risk
Interest rate risk
The association is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk.

Fair value estimation
The carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximate fair values.

Footnote
Net Carrying 

Value
Net Fair 
Value

Net Carrying 
Value

Net Carrying 
Value

$   $   $   $   
Financial assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents (i)       2,338,276    2,338,276          6,157,806       6,157,806 
Accounts receivable and other debtors (i)          275,753       275,753             577,488          577,488 
Total financial assets       2,614,029    2,614,029          6,735,294       6,735,294 

Financial Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and other payables (i)          378,814       378,814             274,320          274,320 
Total financial liabilities          378,814       378,814             274,320          274,320 

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counterparties of contract 
obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the association.

The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at balance date is equivalent to the carrying value 
and classification of those financial assets (net of any provisions) as presented in the balance sheet.

2020 2019

Credit risk is managed through maintaining procedures (such as the utilisation of systems for the approval, granting and removal 
of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposure against such limits, and monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers 
and counterparties) ensuring, to the extent possible, that members and counterparties to  transactions are of sound credit 
worthiness.
Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high credit rating or in entities that 
the committee has otherwise cleared as being financially sound.

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management's expectation as to the timing of realisation. Actual timing may 
therefore differ from that disclosed.

The committee members' overall risk management strategy seeks to ensure that the association meets its financial targets, while 
minimising potential adverse effects of cash flow shortfalls.
The main risks the association is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. 
There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the association is exposed to, how these risks arise, or the 
Committee's objectives, policies and processes for managing and measuring the risks from the previous period.

The Committee monitors the association's transactions and reviews the effectiveness of controls relating to credit risk, financial 
risk, and interest rate risk.

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the association might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or otherwise meeting its 
obligations related to financial liabilities. The association manages this risk through the following mechanisms:
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED
ABN : 12 814 437 874

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

NOTE 13 - RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Board of Management

2020 2019
$   $   

G Gilbert 
 - Mentor coaching and umpiring duties 3,000               3,180             

M Carter 
 - Coaching course presenter and mentor coaching -                   2,275             

Key Management Personnel Compensation

Short Term Benefit 613,443            596,734         
Post Employment Benefit 52,542             50,857           

Total Compensation 665,985            647,591         

Other related parties

NOTE 14 - AUDITOR REMUNERATION 2020 2019
$   $   

Auditor Remuneration
Audit services 9,900               9,900             
Non-audit services 3,100               2,550             

13,000             12,450           

NOTE 15 - CASH FLOW INFORMATION 2020 2019
$   $   

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 

Net surplus (deficit) 4,102,643         (392,843)        

Non-cash flows in profit
   - depreciation 328,301            281,105         
Changes in assets and liabilities:
  - (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 296,253            (63,846)          
  - (increase)/decrease in inventories 11,121             (26,674)          
  - (increase)/decrease in prepayments and other current assets 124,860            (488)              
  - increase/(decrease) in provision for doubtful debts (15,163)            -                
  - increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and other payables (164,052)          251,658         
  - increase/(decrease) in other liabilities (4,485,344)       -                
  - increase/(decrease) in employee provisions (2,292)              (56,387)          
Net cash provided by operating activities 196,327            (7,475)           

NOTE 16 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
There are no contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2020.

NOTE 17 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

No director of the Board received remuneration from the association in their capacity as director.  
No other entity that the above directors are associated with has received funds other than 
through dealings with the association in the ordinary course of business and on normal 
commercial terms and conditions.

The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel (KMP) of the association during 
the year are as follows:

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and under conditions no 
more favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: Financial Instruments  as detailed in 
the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:

The association's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts payable and receivable. The association
does not have any derivative financial instruments as at 30 September 2020.
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SOUTH AUSTRALIAN NETBALL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED
ABN : 12 814 437 874

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2020

The fair values disclosed in the above table have been determined based on the following methodologies:

NOTE 18- CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Significant capital expenditure contracted at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

2020 2019
$   $   

            557,337       4,974,780 

Total capital expenditure not recognised as liability             557,337       4,974,780 

NOTE 19 - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

NOTE 20 - ASSOCIATION DETAILS

The registered office and principal place of business of the association is :  
South Australian Netball Association Inc

, 155 Railway Terrace
Mile END  SA  5031

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 September 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the association's operations, the results of those operations, or the association's state of affairs in future financial years.

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while there has been no significant impact for the 
association up to 30 September 2020, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting 
date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other 
countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may 
be provided.

Stadium upgrade and other improvements

(i) Cash on hand, accounts receivable and other debtors, and accounts payable and other payables are short-term instruments in 
nature whose carrying amount is equivalent to fair value. Accounts payable and other payables exclude amounts relating to the 
employee provisions, which are outside the scope of AASB 139.
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Netball South Australia
Priceline Stadium, 155 Railway Terrace,  
Mile End South SA 5031
(08) 8238 0500
info@netballsa.asn.au
sa.netball.com.au
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